BY-LAWS OF

DIAMOND AT SAPPHIRE LAKES CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, INC.

A corporation not for profit organized under the laws of the State of Florida

- 1. Identity. These are the By-Laws of Diamond At Sapphire Lakes Condominium Association, Inc. (the "Association"), a corporation not for profit incorporated under the laws of the State of Plorida, and organized for the purpose of administering that Coertain condominium located in Collier County, Florida, and purpose as Diamond At Sapphire Lakes, A Condominium (the Condominium").
 - 1.1 <u>Principal Office</u>. The principal office of the Association shall be at 4100 Corporate Square, Suite 150, Naples, Florida 33942, or at such other place as may be subsequently designated by the Board of Directors. All books and records of the Association shall be kept in Collier County, Florida, or at such other place as may be permitted by the Act from time to time.
 - 1.2 Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Association shall be the calendar year.
 - 1.3 <u>Seal</u>. The seal of the Association shall bear the name of the corporation, the word "Florida," the words "Corporation Not for Profit," and the year of incorporation.
- 2. <u>Definitions</u>. For convenience, these By-Laws shall be referred to as the "By-Laws" and the Articles of Incorporation of the Association as the "Articles." The other torms used in these By-Laws shall have the same definition and meaning as those set forth in the Declaration for the Condominium, unless herein provided to the contrary, or unless the context otherwise requires.

3. Members.

- 3.1 Annual Meeting. The annual members' meeting shall be held on the date, at the place and at the time determined by the Board of Directors from time to time, provided that there shall be an annual meeting every calendar year and, to the extent possible, no later than thirteen (13) months after the last preceding annual meeting. The purpose of the meeting shall be, except as provided herein to the contrary, to elect Directors and to transaction any other business authorized to be transacted by the members, or as stated in the notice of the meeting sent to Unit Owners in advance thereof. Unless changed by the Board of Directors, the first annual meeting shall be held during the month that shall fall one year following the filling of the Declaration, at such time, place and date as the Board shall determine.
- 3.2 Special Meetings. Special members' meetings shall be held at such places as provided herein for annual meetings, and may be called by the President or by a majority of the Board of Directors of the Association, and must be called by the President or Secretary upon receipt of a written request from a majority of the members of the Association. The business conducted at a special meeting shall be limited to that stated in the notice of the meeting. Special meetings may also be called by Unit Owners in the manner provided for in the Act.
- 3.3 Notice of Meeting: Waiver of Notice. Notice of a meeting of members, stating the time and place and the

0

purpose(s) for which the meeting is called, shall be given by the President or Secretary. A copy of the notice shall be posted at a conspicuous place on the Condominium Property. The notice of the annual meeting shall be sent by mail to each Unit Owner, unless the shall be sent by mail to each Unit Owner, unless the Unit Owner waives in writing the right to receive notice of the annual meeting by mail. The delivery or mailing shall be to the address of the member as it appears on the roster of members. The posting and mailing of the notice shall be effected not less than fourteen (14) days, nor more than sixty (60) days, prior to the date of the meeting. Proof of posting shall be given by affidavit, and proof of mailing of the notice shall be given by affidavit or the retention the notice shall be given by affidavit or the retention of a post office certificate of mailing.

Notice of specific meetings may be waived before or after the meeting and the attendance of any member (or person authorized to vote for such member) shall constitute such member's waiver of notice of such meeting, except when his (or his authorized representative's) attendance is for the express purpose of objecting at the beginning of the meeting to the transaction of business because the meeting is not lawfully called.

An officer of the Association shall provide an affidavit, to be included in the official records of the Association, affirming that notices of the Association meeting were mailed or hand delivered in accordance with this Section In Co and Section 718.112(2)(d) of the Act, to each Unit Owner at the address last furnished to the Association. No other proof of notice of a meeting shall be required.

3.4 Quorum. A quorum at members' meetings shall be attained by the presence, either in person or by proxy, of persons entitled to cast in excess of 33-1/3% of the votes of members.

3.5 Voting.

- Number of Votes. Except as provided in paragraph 3.10 hereof, and except when the vote is to be determined by a percentage of shares of ownership in the Condominium (as contemplated in specific portions of the Declaration), in any meeting of members, the Owners of Units shall be entitled to cast one vote for each Unit owned. The vote of a Unit shall not be divisible.
- (b) Majority Vote. The acts approved by a majority of the votes present in person or by proxy at a meeting at which a quorum shall have been attached shall be binding upon all Unit Owners for all purposes, except where otherwise provided by law, the Declaration, the Articles or these By-Laws. As used in these By-Laws, the Articles or the Declaration, the terms "majority of the Unit Owners" and "majority of the members" shall mean a receivable of the members and "ball mean a product the members and "ball mean a product the members and "ball mean a product the members and and a ball mean a product the members and about the members and and a ball mean a product the members and a ball mean a product and a ball mean a product the members and a ball means a product the members and a ball means majority of the members themselves and shall further mean more than 50% of the then total authorized votes present in person or by proxy and voting at any meeting of the Unit Owners at which a quorum shall have been attained. Similarly, if some greater percentage of members is required herein or in the Declaration or Articles, it shall mean such greater percentage of the votes of members and not of the members themselves.
- (c) <u>Voting Member</u>. If a Unit is owned by one person, the right to vote shall be established by the roster

of members. If a Unit is owned by more than one person, those persons (including husbands and wives) shall decide among themselves as to who shall cast the vote of the Unit. In the event that those persons cannot so decide, no vote shall be cast. A person casting a vote for a Unit shall be presumed to have the sutherity to do so unless the President or the Board of Directors is otherwise notified. If a Unit is owned by a corporation, the person entitled to cast the vote for the Unit shall be designated by a certificate signed by an appropriate officer of the corporation and filed with the Secretary of the Association. Such person need not be a Unit Owner. Those certificates shall be valid until revoked or until superseded by a subsequent certificate or until a change in the ownership of the Unit concerned. A certificate designating the person entitled to cast the vote for a Unit may be revoked by any record owner of an undivided interest in the Unit. If a certificate designating the person entitled to cast the vote for a Unit for which such certificate is required is not on file or has been revoked, the vote for any other purpose, and the total number of authorized votes in the Association shall be reduced accordingly until such certificate is filed.

Proxies. Votes may be cast in person or by proxy. A proxy may be made by any person entitled to vote, but shall only be valid for the specific meeting for which originally given and any lawful adjourned meetings thereof. All proxies must be filed with the Secretary before the appointed time of each meeting and such proxy shall be valid only for the particular meeting designated in the proxy and any lawfully adjourned meeting thereof. In no event shall any proxy be valid for a period longer than ninety (90) days after the date of the first meeting for which it was given. Every proxy shall be revocable at any time at the pleasure of the person executing it. A proxy must be in writing, signed by the person authorized to cast the vote for the Unit (as above described), name the person(s) voting by proxy and the person authorized to vote for such person(s) and filed with the Secretary before the time to which the meeting is adjourned. Each proxy shall contain the date, time and place of the meeting for which it is given and, if a limited proxy, shall set forth the matters on which the proxy holder may vote and the manner in which the vote is to be cast. Holders of proxies need not be Unit owners.

- 3.7 Adjourned Meetings. If any proposed meeting cannot be organized because a quorum has not been attained, the members who are present, either in person or by proxy, may adjourn the meeting from time to time until a quorum is present, provided notice of the newly scheduled meeting is given in the manner required for the giving of notice of a meeting. Except as required above, proxies given for the adjourned meeting shall be valid for the newly scheduled meeting unless revoked for reasons other than the new date of the meeting.
- 3.8 Order of Business. If a quorum has been attained, the order of business at annual members' meetings, and, if applicable, at other members' meetings, shall be:
 - (a) Call to order by President;

- (b) Appointment by the President of a chairman of the meeting (who need not be a member or a director);
- (c) Proof of notice of the meeting or waiver of notice;
- (d) Reading of minutes;
- (e) Reports of officers;
- (f) Reports of committees;

ğ

- (g) Appointment of inspectors of election;
- 、 、 关
- (h) Determination of number of Directors to be elected;
- (i) Election of Directors;
- (i) Unfinished business;
- (k) New business;
- (1) Adjournment.

Such order may be waived in whole or in part by direction of the chairman.

00155

- 3.9 Minutes of Meeting. The minutes of all meetings of Unit (T)
 Owners shall be kept in a book available for inspection by Unit Owners or their authorized representatives and Board members at any reasonable time. The Association shall retain these minutes for a period of not less than seven years.
- herein notwithstanding, to the extent lawful, any action required to be taken at any annual or special meeting of members, or any action which may be taken at any annual or special meeting of members, or any action which may be taken at any annual or special meeting of such members, may be taken without a meeting, without prior notice and without a vote if a consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by the members (or persons authorized to cast the vote of any such members as elsewhere herein set forth) having not less than the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting of members at which a quorum of members (or authorized persons) entitled to vote thereon were present and voted. Within ten (10) days after obtaining such authorization by written consent, notice must be given to members who have not consented in writing. The notice shall fairly summarize the material features of the authorized action.

4. Directors.

- 4.1 Membership. The affairs of the Association shall be governed by a Board of not less than three (3) nor more than nine (9), directors, the exact number to be determined in the first instance in the Articles, and, thereafter, except as provided herein, from time to time upon majority vote of the membership, provided, however, that the number of Directors shall always be an odd number. Directors need not be Unit Owners.
- 4.2 <u>Election of Directors</u>. The election of Directors shall be conducted in the following manner:
 - (a) Election of Directors shall be held at the annual members' meeting, except as provided herein to the contrary.

(c) The election shall be by written ballot (unless dispensed with by majority consent of the Units represented at the meeting) and by a plurality of the votes cast, each person voting being entitled to cast his votes for each of as many nominees as there are vacancies to be filled. There shall be no cumulative voting.

4.3 Vacancies and Removal.

- (a) Except as to vacancies resulting from removal of Directors by members, vacancies in the Board of Directors occurring between annual meetings of members shall be filled by the remaining Directors, provided that all vacancies in directorships to which Directors were appointed by the Developer pursuant to the provisions of paragraph 4.16 hereof shall be filled by the Developer without the necessity of any meeting.
- (b) Any Director elected by the members (other than the Developer) may be removed by concurrence of a majority of the votes of the members at a special meeting of members called for that purpose or by written agreement signed by a majority of the owners of all Units. The vacancy in the Board of Directors so created shall be filled by the members at the same meeting, or by the Board of Directors, in the case of removal by a written agreement unless said agreement also designates a new Director to take the place of the one removed. The conveyance of all Units owned by a Director in the Condominium (other than appointses of the Developer or Directors who were not Unit Owners) shall constitute the resignation of such Director.
- (c) Anything to the contrary herein notwithstanding, until a majority of the Directors are elected by the members other than the Developer of the Condominium, neither the first Directors of the Association, nor any Directors replacing them, nor any Directors named by the Developer, shall be subject to removal by members other than the Developer. The first Directors and Directors replacing them may be removed and replaced by the Developer without the necessity of any meeting.
- (d) If a vacancy on the Board of Directors results in the inability to obtain a quorum of directors in accordance with these By-Laws, any Owner may apply to the Circuit Court within whose jurisdiction the Condominium lies for the appointment of a receiver to manage the affairs of the Association. At least thirty (30) days prior to applying to the Circuit Court, the Unit Owner shall mail to the Association and post in a conspicuous place on the Condominium Property a notice describing the intended action and giving the Association an opportunity to fill the vacancy(ies) in accordance with these By-Laws. If, during such time, the Association fails to fill the vacancy(ies), the Unit Owner may proceed with the petition. If a receiver is appointed, the Association shall be responsible for the salary of the receiver, court costs and attorneys' fees. The receiver shall have all powers and duties of a duly constituted Board of Directors, and shall serve until the

- 4.4 Term. Except as provided herein to the contrary, the term of each Director's service shall extend until the next annual meeting of the members and subsequently until his successor is duly elected and has taken office, or until he is removed in the manner elsewhere provided.
- 4.5 Organizational Meeting. The organizational meeting of newly-elected or appointed Directors shall be held within ten (10) days of their election or appointment at such place and time as shall be fixed by the Directors at the meeting at which they were elected or appointed and no further notice to the Board of the organizational meeting shall be necessary; provided, however, in the event the organizational meeting shall follow the annual meeting in which the directors were newly elected or appointed, the notice of the annual meeting shall serve as notice of the organizational meeting.
- 4.6 Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held at such time and place as shall be determined, from time to time, by a majority of the Directors. Notice of regular meetings shall be given to each Director, personally or by mail, telephone of telegraph, and shall be transmitted at least three (35) days prior to the meeting. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be open to all Unit Owners and notice of such meetings shall be posted conspicuously on the Condominium Property at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance for the attention of the members of the Association, except in the event of an emergency, provided that Unit Owners shall not be permitted to participate, and need not be recognized, at any such meeting.
- 4.7 Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Directors may be called by the President, and must be called by the President or Secretary at the written request of one-third (1/3) of the Directors. Notice of the meeting shall be given personally or by mail, telephone or telegraph, which notice shall state the time, place and purpose of the meeting, and shall be transmitted not less than three (3) days prior to the meeting. Special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be open to all Unit Owners, provided that Unit Owners shall not be permitted to participate, and need not be recognized, at any such meeting.
- 4.8 Waiver of Notice. Any Director may waive notice of a meeting before or after the meeting and that waiver shall be deemed equivalent to the due receipt by said Director of notice. Attendance by any Director at a meeting, except when his attendance is for the express purpose of objecting at the beginning of the meeting to the transaction of business because the meeting is not lawfully called, shall constitute such Director's waiver of notice of such meeting.
- 4.9 Quorum. A quorum at Directors' meetings shall consist of a majority of the entire Board of Directors. The acts approved by a majority of those present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall constitute the acts of the Board of Directors, except when approval by a greater number of Directors is specifically required by the Declaration, the Articles or these By-Laws.

5

00155

- 4.10 Adjourned Meetings. If, at any proposed meeting of the Board of Directors, there is less than a quorum present, the majority of those present may adjourn the meeting from time to time until a quorum is present, provided notice of such newly scheduled meeting is given as required hereunder. At any newly scheduled meeting, any business that might have been transacted at the meeting as originally called may be transacted without further notice.
- 4.11 Joinder in Meeting by Approval of Minutes. The joinder of a Director in the action of a meeting by signing and concurring in the minutes of that meeting shall constitute the approval of that Director of the business conducted at the meeting, but such joinder shall not allow the applicable Director to be counted as being present for purposes of quorum.
- 4.12 <u>Presiding Officer</u>. The presiding officer at the Directors' meetings shall be the President (who may, however, designate any other person to preside).
- 4.13 Order of Business. If a quorum has been attained, the order of business at Directors' meetings shall be:

0

- (a) Election of Chairman;
- (a) Precriou or cuarrum
- (b) Roll Call
- (c) Proof of due notice of meeting;
- (d) Reading and disposal of any unapproved minutes;
- (e) Reports of officers and committees;
- (f) Election of Inspectors of Election;
- (g) Election of officers;
- (h) Unfinished business;
- (i) New Business;
- (j) Adjournment.

Such order may be waived in whole or in part by direction of the presiding officer.

- 4.14 Minutes of Meetings. The minutes of all meetings of the Board of Directors shall be kept in a book available for inspection by Unit Owners, or their authorized representatives, and Board members at any reasonable time. The Association shall retain these minutes for a period of not less than seven years.
- 4.15 Executive Committee: Other Committees. The Board of Directors may, by resolution duly adopted, appoint an Executive Committee to consist of three (3) or more members of the Board of Directors. Such Executive Committee shall have and may exercise all of the powers of the Board of Directors in management of the business and affairs of the Condominium during the period between the meetings of the Board of Directors insofar as may be permitted by law, except that the Executive Committee shall not have power (a) to determine the Common Expenses required for the affairs of the Condominium, (b) to determine the Assessments payable by the Unit Owners to meet the Common Expenses of the Condominium, (c) to adopt or amend any rules and regulations covering the details of the operation and use of the Condominium

Property, or (d) to exercise any of the powers set forth in paragraphs (f) and (o) of Section 5 below.

The Board may by resolution also create other committees and appoint persons to such committees and vest in such committees such powers and responsibilities as the Board shall deem advisable.

<u>Proviso</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 4 or otherwise, the Board \Box shall consist of three directors during the period that 20 the Developer is entitled to appoint a majority of the Directors, as hereinafter provided. The Developer shall have the right to appoint all of the members of the Board of Directors until Unit Owners other than the Developer own fifteen (15%) percent or more of the Units that will be operated ultimately by the Association. When Unit Owners other than the Developer own fifteen (15%) percent or more of the Units that will be operated ultimately by the Association, the Unit Owners other than the Developer shall be entitled to elect not less than one-third (1/3) of the members of the Board of Directors. Upon the election of such director(s), the Developer shall forward to the Division of Florida Land Sales and Condominiums the name and mailing address of To the director(s) elected. Unit Owners other than the Developer are entitled to elect not less than a majority (of the members of the Board of Directors (a) three years after fifty (50%) percent of the Units that will be operated ultimately by the Association have been conveyed to Purchasers: (b) three months after ninety (90%) percent of the Units that will be operated ultimately by the Association have been conveyed to Purchasers: (c) when all of the Units that will be operated ultimately the Association have been completed, some of them have been conveyed to purchasers, and none of the others are being offered for sale by the Developer in the ordinary course of business; or (d) when some of the Units have been conveyed to purchasers, and none of the others are being constructed or offered for sale by the Developer in the ordinary course of business, whichever occurs first. The Developer is entitled (but not obligated) to elect at least one (1) member of the Board of Directors as long as the Developer holds for sale in the ordinary course of business five percent (5%) of the Units that will be operated ultimately by the Association.

The Developer can turn over control of the Association to Unit Owners other than the Developer prior to such dates in its sole discretion by causing all of its appointed Directors to resign, whereupon it shall be the affirmative obligation of Unit Owners other than the Developer to elect Directors and assume control of the Association. Provided at least thirty (30) days' notice of Developer's decision to cause its appointees to resign is given to Unit Owners, neither the Developer, nor such appointees, shall be liable in any manner in connection with such resignations even if the Unit Owners other than the Developer refuse or fail to assume control.

Within sixty (60) days after the Unit Owners other than the Developer are entitled to elect a member or members of the Board of Directors, or sconer if the Developer has elected to accelerate such event as aforesaid, the Association shall call, and give not less than thirty (30) days' nor more than forty (40) days' notice of a meeting of the Unit Owners to elect such member or members of the Board of Directors. The meeting may be

1687

001551

called and the notice given by any Unit Owner if the Association fails to do so.

Within a reasonable time after Unit Owners other than the Developer elect a majority of the members of the Board of Directors of the Association (but not more than sixty (60) days after such event), the Developer shall relinquish control of the Association and shall deliver to the Association all property of the Unit Owners and of the Association held or controlled by the Developer, including, but not limited to, the following items, if applicable:

- (a) The original or a photocopy of the recorded Declaration of Condominium, and all amendments thereto. If a photocopy is provided, the Developer must certify by affidavit that it is a complete copy of the actual recorded Declaration.
- (b) A certified copy of the Articles of Incorporation of the Association.
- (c) A copy of the By-Laws of the Association.
- (d) The minute books, including all minutes, and other books and records of the Association.
- (e) Any rules and regulations which have been adopted.
- (f) Resignations of resigning officers and Board numbers who were appointed by the Developer.
- (g) The financial records, including financial statements of the Association, and source documents since the incorporation of the Association through the date of the turnover. The records shall be reviewed by an independent certified public accountant. The minimum report required shall be a review in accordance with generally accepted accounting standards as defined by rule by the Board of Accountancy. The accountant performing the review shall examine to the extent necessary supporting documents and records, including the cash disbursements and related paid invoices to determine if expenditures were for association purposes, and billings, cash receipts and related records to determine that the developer was charged and paid the proper amount of assessments.
- (h) Association funds or the control thereof.
- (i) All tangible personal property that is the property of the Association or is or was represented by the Developer to be part of the Common Elements or is ostensibly part of the Common Elements, and an inventory of such property.
- (j) A copy of the plans and specifications utilized in the construction or remodeling of Improvements and the supplying of equipment, and for the construction and installation of all mechanical components servicing the Improvements and the Condominium Property, with a Certificate, in affidavit form, of an officer of the Developer or an architect or engineer authorized to practice in Florida, that such plans and specifications represent, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the actual plans and specifications utilized in the construction and improvement of the Condominium Property and the construction and installation of the mechanical

- (k) Insurance policies.
- (1) Copies of any Certificates of Occupancy which may have been issued for the Condominium Property.
- (m) Any other permits issued by governmental bodies applicable to the Condominium Property in force or issued within one (1) year prior to the date the Unit Owners take control of the Association.
- (n) All written warranties of contractors, subcontractors, suppliers and manufacturers, if any, that are still effective.
- (o) A roster of Unit Owners and their addresses and telephone numbers, if known, as shown on the Developer's records.
- (p) Leases of the Common Elements and other Leases to which the Association is a party, if applicable.
- (q) Employment contracts or service contracts in which the Association is one of the contracting parties, or service contracts in which the Association or Unit Owners have an obligation or responsibility, or directly or indirectly, to pay some or all of the fee or charge of the person or persons performing the service.

5

- (r) All other contracts to which the Association is a party.
- 5. Powers and Duties. The Board of Directors shall have the powers and duties granted to it by law, the Declaration, the Act, the Articles, and these By-Laws necessary for the administration of the affairs of the Condominium and may take all acts, through the proper officers of the Association, in executing such powers, except such acts which by law, the Declaration, the Articles or these By-Laws may not be delegated to the Board of Directors by the Unit Owners. Such powers and duties of the Board of Directors shall include, without limitation (except as limited elsewhere herein), the following:
 - (a) Operating and maintaining the Common Elements.
 - (b) Determining the expenses required for the operation of the Condominium and the Association.
 - (c) Employing and dismissing the personnel necessary for the maintenance and operation of the Common Elements.
 - (d) Adopting and amending rules and regulations concerning the details of the operation and use of the Condominium Property, subject to a right of the Unit Owners to overrule the Board as provided in Section 13 hereof.
 - (e) Maintaining bank accounts on behalf of the Association and designating the signatory or signatories required therefor.
 - (f) Purchasing, leasing or otherwise acquiring Units or other property in the name of the Association, or its designee.

- (h) Selling, leasing, mortgaging or otherwise dealing with Units acquired, and subleasing Units leased, by the Association, or its designee.
- Organizing corporations and appointing persons to act as designees of the Association in acquiring title to or leasing Units or other property.
- (j) Obtaining and reviewing insurance for the Condominium Property.
- (k) Making repairs, additions and improvements to, or alterations of, the Condominium Property, and repairs to and restoration of the Condominium Property, in accordance with the provisions of the Declaration after damage or destruction by fire or other casualty, or as a result of condemnation or eminent domain proceedings or otherwise.
- (1) Enforcing obligations of the Unit Owners, allocating profits and expenses and taking such other actions as shall be deemed necessary and proper for the sound management of the Condominium.
- (m) Levying fines against appropriate Unit Owners for Convictations of the rules and regulations established by the Association to govern the conduct of such Unit Owners. No fine shall exceed the highest amount permitted under the Act (as it may be amended from time to time) nor shall any fine be levied except after giving reasonable notice and opportunity for a hearing to the affected Unit Owner and, if applicable, his tenant, licensee or invitee. No fine shall become a lien upon a Unit, unless permitted by the Act (as it may be amended from time to time).
- (n) Purchasing or leasing Units for use by resident superintendents and other similar persons.
- Borrowing money on behalf of the Condominium when required in connection with the operation, care, upkeep and maintenance of the Common Elements or the acquisition of property, and granting mortgages on and/or security interests in Association owned property; provided, however, that the consent of the Owners of at least two-thirds (2/3rds) of the Units represented at a meeting at which a quorum has been attained in accordance with the provisions of these By-Laws shall be required for the borrowing of any sum which would cause the total outstanding indebtedness of the Association to exceed \$10,000.00. If any sum borrowed by the Board of Directors on behalf of the Condominium pursuant to the authority contained in this subparagraph (O) is not repaid by the Association, a Unit Owner who pays to the creditor such portion thereof as his interest in his Common Elements bears to the interest of all of the Unit Owners in the Common Elements shall be entitled to obtain from the creditor a release of entitled to obtain from the creditor a release of any judgment or other lien which said creditor shall have filed or shall have the right to file against, or which will affect, such Unit Owner's Unit; provided always, however, the Association shall take no action authorized in this paragraph without the prior written consent of the Developer as long as the Developer owns any Unit.

- (p) Contracting for the management and maintenance of the Condominium Property and authorizing a management agent (who may be an affiliate of the Developer) to assist the Association in carrying out its powers and duties by performing such functions as the submission of proposals, collection of Assessments, preparation of records, enforcement of rules and maintenance, repair, and replacement of the Common Elements with such funds as shall be made available by the Association for such purposes. The Association and its officers shall, however, retain at all times the powers and duties granted by the Condominium documents and the Act, including, but not limited to, the making of Assessments, promulgation of rules and execution of contracts on behalf of the Association.
 - (q) At its discretion, authorizing Unit Owners or other persons to use portions of the Common Elements for private parties and gatherings and imposing reasonable charges for such private use (to the extent permitted by the Act).
 - (r) Exercising (i) all powers specifically set forth in the Declaration, the Articles, these By-Laws and in the Act, (ii) all powers incidental thereto, and (iii) all other powers of a Florida corporation on not for profit.
 - (s) Imposing a lawful fee in connection with the approval of the transfer, lease, sale or sublease of Units, not to exceed the maximum amount permitted by law from time to time in any one case.
 - (t) Contracting with and creating or joining in the creation of special taxing districts, joint councils and the like.

6. Officers.

- 6.1 Executive Officers. The initial executive officers of the Association shall be a President, a Vice-President, a Treasurer and a Secretary (none of whom need be Directors or Unit Owners), all of whom shall be elected by the Board of Directors (which may create and fill other offices as provided herein) and who may be peremptorily removed at any meeting by concurrence of a majority of all of the Directors. A person may hold more than one office, except that the President may not also be the Secretary. No person shall sign an instrument or perform an act in the capacity of more than one office. The Board of Directors from time to time shall elect such other officers and designate their powers and duties as the Board shall deem necessary or appropriate to manage the affairs of the Association.
- 6.2 <u>President</u>. The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Association. He shall have all of the powers and duties that are usually vested in the office of president of an association.
- 6.3 <u>Vice-President</u>. The Vice-President shall exercise the powers and perform the duties of the President in the absence or disability of the President. He also shall assist the President and exercise such other powers and perform such other duties as are incident to the office of the vice president of an association and as may be required by the Directors or the President.

- 6.4 Secretary. The Secretary shall keep the minutes of all proceedings of the Directors and the members. He shall attend to the giving of all notices to the members and Directors and other notices required by law. He shall have custody of the seal of the Association and shall affix it to instruments requiring the seal when duly signed. He shall keep the records of the Association, except those of the Treasurer, and shall perform all other duties incident to the office of the secretary of an association and as may be required by the Directors or the President.
- 6.5 Treasurer. The Treasurer shall have custody of all property of the Association, including funds, securities and evidences of indebtedness. He shall keep books of account for the Association in accordance with good accounting practices, which, together with substantiating papers, shall be made available to the Board of Directors for examination at reasonable times. He shall submit a treasurer's report to the Board of Directors at reasonable intervals and shall perform all other duties incident to the office of treasurer and as may be required by the Directors or the President. All monies and other valuable effects shall be kept for the benefit of the Association in such depositories as may be designated by a majority of the Board of Directors.
- 6.6 Other. The Board of Directors may create additional offices from time to time and appoint persons to fill musuch offices, subject to removal at the discretion of the Board.
- 6.7 <u>Developer Appointees</u>. No officer appointed by the Directors designated by the Developer may be removed except as provided in Section 4.16 hereof and by law.
- Compensation. Neither Directors nor officers shall receive compensation for their services as such, but this provision shall not preclude the Board of Directors from employing a Director or officer as an employee of the Association, nor preclude contracting with a Director or officer for the management of the Condominium or for any other service to be supplied by such Director or officer. Directors and officers shall be compensated for all actual and proper out of pocket expenses relating to the proper discharge of their respective duties.
- 8. Resignations. Any Director or officer may resign his post at any time by written resignation, delivered to the president or Secretary, which shall take effect upon its receipt unless a later date is specified in the resignation, in which event the resignation shall be effective from such date unless withdrawn. The acceptance of a resignation shall not be required to make it effective. The conveyance of all Units owned by any Director or officer (other than appointees of the Developer or officers who were not Unit Owners) shall constitute a written resignation of such Director or officer.
- Fiscal Management. The provisions for fiscal management of the Association set forth in the Declaration and Articles shall be supplemented by the following provisions:

9.1 Budget.

(a) Adoption by Board: Items. The Board of Directors shall from time to time, and at least annually, prepare a budget for the Condominium (which shall detail all accounts and items of expense and contain at least all items set forth in Section 718.504(20) of the Act, if applicable), determine the amount of

ഹ

CD

Assessments payable by the Unit Owners to meet the expenses of such Condominium and allocate and assess such expenses among the Unit Owners in accordance with the provisions of the Declaration. In addition to annual operating expenses, the budget shall include reserve accounts for capital expenditures and deferred maintenance (to the extent required by law). These accounts shall extent required by law). These accounts shall include, but not be limited to, roof replacement, building painting and pavement resurfacing. The amount of reserves shall be computed by means of a formula which is based upon the estimated life and the estimated replacement cost of each reserve item. Reserves shall not be required if the members of the Association have, by a majority vote at a duly called meeting of members, determined for a specific fiscal year to provide no reserves or reserves less adequate than required hereby. If a meeting of Unit Owners has been called to determine to provide no reserves or reserves less adequate than required, and such result is not attained or a quorum is not attained, the reserves, as included in the budget, shall go into effect.

The adoption of a budget for the Condominium shall comply with the requirements hereinafter set forth:

- A copy of the proposed budget of Common Expenses shall be mailed to beach Unit Owner not less than fourteen (14) Co Notice of Meeting. days prior to the meeting of the Board of IT Directors at which the budget will be considered, together with a notice of that meeting indicating the time and place of such meeting. The meeting shall be open to the Unit Owners, provided that the Unit Owners shall not have the right to participate, and need not be recognized, at such meeting.
- (ii) Special Membership Meeting. If a budget is adopted by the Board of Directors which requires Assessments against such Unit Owners in any year exceeding one hundred fifteen percent (115%) of such Assessments for the preceding year, as hereinafter defined, upon preceding year, as nereinaled with (10%) of written application of ten percent (10%) of the the Unit Owners, a special meeting of the Unit Owners shall be held within thirty (30) days of delivery of such application to the Board of Directors. Each Unit Owner shall be given at least ten (10) days' notice of said meeting. At the special meeting, Unit Owners shall consider and adopt a budget. adoption of said budget shall require a vote of Owners of not less than 50% of all the Units (including Units owned by the Developer).

 If a meeting of the Unit Owners has been called as aforesaid and a quorum is not obtained or a substitute budget has not been adopted by the Unit Owners, the budget adopted by the Board of Directors shall go into effect as scheduled.
- Determination of Budget Amount. In determining whether a budget requires Assessments against Unit Owners in any year exceeding one hundred fifteen percent (115t) of Assessments for the preceding year, there shall be excluded in the computations any authorized provisions for reasonable reserves made by the Board of

Directors in respect of repair or replacement of the Condominium Property or in respect of anticipated expenses of the Association which are not anticipated to be incurred on a regular or annual basis, and there shall be excluded further from such computation Assessments for improvements to the Condominium Property.

- (iv) Proviso. As long as the Developer is in control of the Board of Directors of the Association, the Board shall not impose Assessments for a year greater than one hundred fifteen percent (115%) of the prior year's Assessments, as herein defined, without the approval of a majority of Unit Owners other than the Developer.
- Board of Directors shall be unable to adopt a budget for a fiscal year in accordance with the requirements of Subsection 9.1(a) above, the Board of Directors may call a special meeting of Unit Owners for the purpose of considering and adopting such budget, which meeting shall be called and held in the manner provided for such special meetings in said subsection, or propose a budget in writing to the members, and if such budget is adopted by the members, upon ratification by a majority of the Board of Directors, it shall become the budget for such year.
- 9.2 Assessments. Assessments against Unit Owners for their share of the items of the budget shall be made for the applicable fiscal year annually at least twenty (20) days preceding the year for which the Assessments are Such Assessments shall be due in equal installments, payable in advance on the first day of each month (or each quarter at the election of the Board) of the year for which the Assessments are made. If annual Assessments are not made as required, Assessments shall be presumed to have been made in the Amount of the last prior Assessments, and monthly (or quarterly) installments on such Assessments shall be due upon each installment payment date until changed by amended Assessments. In the event the annual Assessments prove to be insufficient, the budget and Assessments may be amended at any time by the Board of Directors, subject to the provisions of Section 9.1 hereof, if applicable. Unpaid Assessments for the remaining portion of the fiscal year for which amended Assessments are made shall be payable in as many equal installments as there are full months (or quarters) of the fiscal year left as of the date of such amended Assessments, each such monthly (or quarterly) installment to be paid on the first day of the month (or quarter), commencing the first day of the next ensuing month (or quarter). If only a partial month (or quarter) remains, the amended Assessments shall be paid with the next regular installment in the following year, unless otherwise directed by the Board in its resolution.
 - 9.3 <u>Assessments for Emergencies</u>. Assessments for Common Expenses for emergencies that cannot be paid from the annual Assessments for Common Expenses shall be due only after ten (10) days' notice is given to the Unit Owners concerned, and shall be paid in such manner as the Board of Directors of the Association may require in the notice of such Assessments.

168

307d 195100

- 9.5 Depository. The depository of the Association shall be such bank or banks in the State as shall be designated from time to time by the Directors and in which the monies of the Association shall be deposited. Withdrawal of monies from those accounts shall be made only by checks signed by such person or persons as are authorized by the Directors. All sums collected by the Association of from Assessments or contributions to working capital or otherwise may be commingled in a single fund or divided into more than one fund, as determined by a majority of the Board of Directors.
- 9.6 Acceleration of Installments Upon Default. If a Unit Owner shall be in default in the payment of an installment upon his Assessments, the Board of Directors or its agent may accelerate the Assessments due for the remainder of the quarter upon notice to the Unit Owner, and thereafter, if a claim of lien has been filed, the Assessments shall be accelerated for the balance of the budget year. The unpaid balance of the Assessments for the balance of the accelerated period shall be due upon the date stated in the notice, but not less than five (5) days after delivery of the notice to the Unit Owner, or not less than ten (10) days after the mailing of such notice to him by certified mail, whichever shall first occur.

ത

- 9.7 Enforcement of Assessments. In the event an assessment is not paid within ten (10) days of the date same shall be due and payable, the Association, through the Board of Directors, may proceed to enforce and collect said assessments from the delinquent Unit Owner in any manner provided for by the Condominium Act, the Declaration of Condominium and these Bylaws. Each Unit Owner shall be individually responsible for the payment of assessments against his Unit and for the payment of reasonable attorneys' fees and costs incurred by the Association in the collection of sums due and enforcement of any lien held by the Association.
- 9.8 Fidelity Bonds. Fidelity bonds shall be required by the Board of Directors for all persons handling or responsible for Association funds in such amount as shall be determined by a majority of the Board. The premiums on such bonds shall be paid by the Association as a Common Expense.
- Accounting Records and Reports. The Association shall maintain accounting records in the State, according to accounting practices normally used by similar associations. The records shall be open to inspection by Unit Owners or their authorized representatives at reasonable times and written summaries of them shall be supplied at least annually. The records shall include, but not be limited to, (a) a record of all receipts and expenditures, and (b) an account for each Unit designating the name and current mailing address of the Unit Owner, the amount of Assessments, the dates and amounts in which the Assessments come due, the amount paid upon the account and the dates so paid, and the balance due. Written summaries of the records described in clause (a) above, in the form and manner specified below, shall be supplied to each Unit Owner annually.

No later than April 1 of the year following the and of a fiscal year, the Board shall mail, or furnish by personal delivery, to each Unit Owner a complete financial report of actual receipts and expenditures for the previous twelve (12) months (i.e., the last completed fiscal year). The report shall show the amount of receipts by accounts and receipt classifications and shall show the amount of expenses by accounts and expense classifications, including, if applicable, but not limited to, the following:

- a. Cost for security;
- b. Professional and management fees and expenses:
- c. Taxes:
- d. Cost for recreation facilities;
- e. Expenses for refuse collection and utility services;

0156

- f. Expense for lawn care;
- g. Cost for building maintenance and repair;
- h. Insurance costs;
- i. Administrative and salary expenses; and
- General reserves, maintenance reserves and depreciation reserves.
- 9.10 <u>Application of Payment</u>. All payments made by a Unit Owner shall be applied as provided in these By-Laws and in the Declaration or as otherwise determined by the Board.
- 9.11 Notice of Meetings. Notice of any meeting where Assessments against Unit Owners are to be considered for any reason shall specifically contain a statement that Assessments will be considered and the nature of any such Assessments.
- 10. Roster of Unit Owners. Each Unit Owner shall file with the Association a copy of the deed or other document showing his ownership. The Association shall maintain such information. The Association may rely upon the accuracy of such information for all purposes until notified in writing of changes therein as provided above. Only Unit Owners of record on the date notice of any meeting requiring their vote is given shall be entitled to notice of and to vote at such meeting, unless prior to such meeting other Owners shall produce adequate evidence, as provided above, of their interest and shall waive in writing notice of such meeting.
- Parliamentary Rules. Roberts' Rules of Order (latest editiom) shall govern the conduct of the Association meetings when not in conflict with the Declaration, the Articles or these By-Laws.
- 12. Amendments. Except as in the Declaration provided otherwise, these By-Laws may be amended in the following manner:
 - 12.1 Notice. Notice of the subject matter of a proposed amendment shall be included in the notice of a meeting at which a proposed amendment is to be considered.
 - 12.2 Adoption. A resolution for the adoption of a proposed amendment may be proposed either by a majority of the

Board of Directors or by not less than one-third (1/3) of the members of the Association. Directors and members not present in person or by proxy at the meeting considering the amendment may express their approval in writing, provided that such approval is delivered to the Secretary at or prior to the meeting. The approval must be:

- (a) by not less than a majority of the votes of those members of the Association who are present or represented at a meeting at which a quorum has been attained and by not less than 66-2/3% of themetire Board of Directors; or
- (b) after control of the Association has been turned over to Unit Owners other than the Developer, by not less than 80% of the votes of the members of the Association represented at a meeting at which a quorum has been attained; or
- (c) by not less than 100% of the entire Board of Directors.
- 12.3 Proviso. No amendment may be adopted which would eliminate, modify, prejudice, abridge or otherwise adversely affect any rights, benefits, privileges or priorities granted or reserved to the Developer of mortgagees of Units without the consent of said Developer and mortgagees in each instance. No amendment shall be made that is in conflict with the Articles or Declaration. No amendment to this Section shall be valid.
- 12.4 Execution and Recording. A copy of each amendment shall be attached to a certificate certifying that the amendment was duly adopted as an amendment of the Declaration and By-Laws, which certificate shall be executed by the President or Vice-President and attested by the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Association with the formalities of a deed, or by the Developer alone if the amendment has been adopted consistent with the provisions of the Declaration allowing such action by the Developer. The amendment shall be effective when the certificate and a copy of the amendment are recorded in the Public Records of the County with an identification on the first page of the amendment of the Official Records Book and Page of said Public Records where the Declaration is recorded.
- 13. Rules and Regulations. Attached hereto as Schedule A and made a part hereof are initial Rules and Regulations concerning the use of portions of the Condominium. The Board of Directors may, from time to time, modify, amend or add to such Rules and Regulations, except that subsequent to the date control of the Board is turned over by the Developer to Unit Owners other than the Developer, Owners of a majority of the Units may overrule the Board with respect to any such modifications, amendments or additions. Copies of such modified, amended or additional Rules and Regulations shall be furnished by the Board of Directors to each affected Unit Owner not less than thirty (30) days prior to the effective date thereof. At no time may any rule or regulation be adopted which would prejudice the rights reserved to the Developer.
- 14. <u>Construction</u>. Wherever the context so permits, the singular shall include the plural, the plural shall include the singular, and the use of any gender shall be deemed to include all genders.
- 15. <u>Captions</u>. The captions herein are inserted only as a matter of convenience and for reference, and in no way define or

limit the scope of these By-Laws or the intent of any provision hereof.

- 16. Official Records. From the inception of the Association, the Association shall maintain a copy of each of the following, where applicable, which shall constitute the official records of the Association:
 - (a) The plans, permits warranties, and other items provided by the Developer pursuant to Section 718.301(4) of the Act;
 - A photocopy of the recorded Declaration of Condominium
 - (c) A photocopy of the recorded By-Laws of the Association and all amendments thereto;
 - (d) A certified copy of the Articles of Incorporation of the Association or other documents creating the Association and all amendments thereto;
 - (e) A copy of the current Rules and Regulations of the Association;
 - (f) A book or books containing the minutes of all meetings of the Association, of the Board of Directors, and of Country Owners, which minutes shall be retained for a period of not less than 7 years.
 - (g) A current roster of all Unit Owners, their mailing addresses, Unit identifications, voting certifications, and if known, telephone numbers;
 - (h) All current insurance policies of the Association and the Condominium;
 - A current copy of any management agreement, lease, or other contract to which the Association is a party or under which the Association or the Unit Owners have an obligation or responsibility;
 - (j) Bills of sale or transfer for all property owned by the Association;
 - (k) Accounting records for the Association and the accounting records for the Condominium, according to good accounting practices. All accounting records shall be maintained for a period of not less than 7 years. The accounting records shall include, but not be limited to:
 - Accurate, itemized, and detailed records for all receipts and expenditures.
 - A current account and a monthly, bimonthly, or quarterly statement of the account for each Unit designating the name of the Unit Owner, the due date and amount of each Assessment, the amount paid upon the account, and the balance due.
 - All audits, reviews, accounting statements, and financial reports of the Association or Condominium.
 - All contracts for work to be performed. Bids for work to be performed shall also be considered official records and shall be maintained for a period of 1 year;
 - (m) Ballots, sign-in sheets, voting proxies and all other papers relating to elections, which shall be maintained

for a period of one (1) year from the date of the meeting to which the document relates;

(n) All rental records where the Association is acting as agent for the rental of Units.

The official records of the Association shall be maintained in the County or at such other place as may be permitted by the Act (as it may be amended from time to time).

OR BOOK

The official records of the Association shall be open to inspection by any Association member or the authorized representative of such member at all reasonable times. Failure to permit inspection of the Association records as provided herein entitles any person prevailing in an enforcement action to recover reasonable attorneys' fees from the person in control of the records who, directly or indirectly, knowingly denies access to the records for inspection. The right to inspect the records includes the right to make or obtain copies, at the reasonable expense, if any, of the Association member.

17. Voluntary Arbitration. Any disputes arising from the operation of the Condominium between or among Unit Owners, Unit Owners and the Association, or the agents or assigns of Unit Owners or the Association, may be resolved through binding arbitration conducted in accordance with the Florida Arbitration Code, the Florida Administrative Code and the rules and procedures of the American Arbitration Association (to the extent applicable).

Approved:

Fresident

Secretary

FOR

DIAMOND AT SAPPHIRE LAKES CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION. INC.

The following Rules and Regulations supplement those contained in the Declaration of Condominium for Sapphire Lakes, a Condominium. They are applicable to all occupants of Residential Units as well as to Residential Unit Owners.

- 1. The entranceways, passages, vestibules, elevators, Cobbies, halls and similar portions of the Common Elements shall 3 be used only for ingress and egress to and from the Condominium of Property. No carts, bicycles, carriages, chairs, tables or other cosimilar objects shall be stored in them.
- Each Unit Owner's personal property must be stored within the Unit or within garages, if any, assigned to the Unit.
- The Common Elements shall not be obstructed, littered, defaced, or misused in any manner.
 - No articles shall be placed in the hallways or breezeways.
- No articles except suitable furniture, plants and planters shall be placed on balconies, terraces, courtyards or similar areas.
- Neither rugs, laundry nor any other article(s) shall be [7] shaken or hung from windows, doors, balconies, terraces or exterior walls.
- Garbage and other refuse shall be placed only in designated areas.
- Pets shall not be permitted to become nuisances to Unit Owners or occupants of Units and are subject to removal from the Condominium at the discretion of the Board of Directors after a hearing conducted in the same manner as hearings for fines.
- Pets, birds and fish shall neither be kept nor maintained in or about the Condominium Property except with the prior written consent of the Condominium Association and then only in accordance with the provisions of the Declaration and the following:
- (a) No dog or cat shall be permitted outside of its Owner's Unit unless attended by an adult and on a leash not more than six (6) feet long.
- (b) No more than two (2) small domestic birds may be kept in the Unit. No domestic birds of a variety which will omit sounds that can be heard in contiguous units may be kept by a Unit Owner in a Unit.
- (c) No fish tanks may exceed 55 gallon capacity. Unit Owner shall be limited to one fish tank.
- (d) No one other than the Owner of a Residential Unit is permitted to keep any pets.
- (e) Pets are not permitted on any part of the Common Elements except when they are leashed and being walked or transported directly off the Condominium Property or directly to their Owner's Unit.
- 9. Employees of the Association are not to be engaged by Unit Owners for personal errands which are not within the scope The Board of Directors, of the applicable employee's duties. through a management company engaged by the Association, if any,

- 10. No Unit Owner shall make disturbing noises in the Building or permit his family, servants, employees, agents, visitors or licensees to do so. In particular, no Unit Owner shall play (or permit to be played in his Unit or on the Common Elements appurtenant to it) any musical instrument, phonograph, television, radio or the like in a way that unreasonably disturbs or annoys other Unit Owners or occupants.
- 11. No radio or television installation or other electric equipment shall be permitted in any Unit if it interferes with the television or radio reception of another Unit.
- Developer, no signs, advertisements, notices or lettering may be constituted, displayed, inscribed, painted or affixed in, or on upon any part of the Common Elements or any part of a Unit so as to be visible outside the Unit. Additionally, no awning, canopy, shutter, air-conditioning unit or other projection shall be attached to, hung, displayed or placed upon the outside walls, doors, balconies, windows, roof or other portions of the Building or on the Common Elements.
- 13. The Association may retain a pass-key to all Residential Units. A Residential Unit Owner who alters any lock, or installs any new lock, shall provide the Association with an additional new key.
- 14. No flammable, combustible or explosive fluids, chemicals or other substances may be kept in any Unit or on the Common of Elements, except such as are normally used in small barbecues or for normal household purposes.
- 15. A Unit Owner who plans to be absent during the hurricane season must prepare his Unit prior to his departure by designating a responsible firm or individual to care for his Unit should the Unit suffer hurricane damage and furnishing the Association with the name(s) of that firm or individual.
- 16. Food and beverages may not be consumed on the Common Elements except as specifically permitted by the Board of Directors.
- 17. Curtains, drapes and other window coverings (including their linings) which face on exterior windows or glass doors of Units shall be white or off-white in color unless otherwise specifically approved by the Board of Directors.
- 18. No aluminum foil may be placed in any window or glass door of a Unit, and no reflective substance may be placed on any glass in a Unit except a substance previously approved by the Board of Directors for energy conservation purposes.
- 19. No exterior antennae shall be permitted on the Condominium Property, provided that the Developer shall have the right (but not the obligation) to install and maintain community antennae, radic and television lines and security systems, as well as communications systems.
- 20. Children shall be the direct responsibility of their parents or legal guardians who must supervise them while they are within the Condominium Property. Full compliance with these Rules and Regulations and all other rules and regulations of the Association shall be required of children. Playing shall not be permitted in any of the lobbies, hallways, stairways, elevators, and lobby areas, and loud noises will not be tolerated.
- 21. Every Residential Unit Owner and occupant shall comply with these Rules and Regulations as set forth herein, any and all

1687

In addition to all other remedies, in the sole discretion of the Board of Directors of the Association, a fine or fines may be imposed upon an Owner for failure of an Owner, his family, guests invitees, leases or employees, to comply with any covenant, restriction, rule or regulation herein or in the Declaration, or Articles of Incorporation or By-Laws, provided the following procedures are adhered to:

R BOOK

(a) Notice: The Association shall notify the Owner or occupant of the reported or alleged infraction or infractions. Included in the notice shall be a date and time of the next Board of Directors meeting at which time the Owner or occupant shall present reasons why a fine should be imposed. The Owner or occupant may be represented by counsel and may cross-examine witnesses.

- (b) Hearing: The non-compliance shall be presented to the Board of Directors after which the Board of Directors shall hear reasons why a fine should not be imposed. A written decision of the Board of Directors shall be submitted to the Owner or occupant by not later than twenty-one (21) days after the Board of Directors' meeting.
- (c) <u>Amount</u>: The Board of Directors may impose a fine against the applicable person in such amount as may be permitted by the Association's By-Laws and by law.
- (d) <u>Payment of Fines</u>: Fines shall be paid not later than thirty (30) days after notice of the imposition thereof.
- (e) <u>Application of Fines</u>: All monies received from fines shall be allocated as directed by the Board of Directors.
- (f) <u>Infractions</u>: Each day an infraction or violation occurs after the applicable party has received notice thereof shall be deemed to be a new infraction or violation.
- (g) Non-exclusive Remedy: These fines shall not be construed to be exclusive and shall exist in addition to all other rights and remedies to which the Association may be otherwise legally entitled; however, any penalty paid by the offending Owner or occupant shall be deducted from or offset against any damages which the Association may otherwise be entitled to recover by law from such Owner.
- 22. These rules and regulations shall not apply to the Developer, Master Developer, to the Developer's agents, employees or contractors, or to Units owned by the developer until they are conveyed. They shall apply, however, to all other Owners and occupants of Residential Units. The Board of Directors may (but need not) grant relief to one or more Unit Owners from specific rules and regulations upon written request for such relief and good cause shown (as determined by the Board in its sole opinion).

168



Bepartment of State

I cartify that the attached is a true and correct copy of the Articles of Incorporation of DIAMOND AT SAPPHIRE LAKES CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, INC., a corporation organized under the Laws of the State of Florida, filed on January 21, 1992, as shown by the records of this office.

The document number of this corporation is N46903.

Sinen under my hand and the Great Beal of the State of Florida, at Callahassee, the Capital, this the 21st day of January. 1992.

CR2E022 (2-91)

Jim Smith Secretary of State

ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION

FOR

DIAMOND AT SAPPHIRE LAKES CONDOMINIUM ASSOC

The undersigned incorporator, for the purpose of forming a corporation not for profit pursuant to the laws of the State of Florida, hereby adopts the following Articles of Incorporation:

ARTICLE 1

NAME AND ADDRESS

The name of the corporation shall be DIAMOND AT SAPPHIRE LAKES CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, INC. The principal address of the corporation is 4100 Corporate Square, Suite 150, Naples, Florida 33942. For convenience, the corporation shall be referred to in

this instrument as the "Association," these Articles of Incorporation as the "Articles," and the By-Laws of the Association as the "By-Lave.

ARTICLE 2

PURPOSE

The purpose for which the Association is organized is to provide an entity pursuant to the Florida Condominium Act as it contains on the date hereof (the "Act") for the operation of that mercentain condominium located in Collier County, Florida, and known as DIAMOND AT SAPPHIRE LAKES, A CONDOMINIUM (the "Condominium").

ARTICLE 3

DEFINITIONS

The terms used in these Articles shall have the same definitions and meaning as those set forth in the Declaration of the Condominium to be recorded in the Public Records of Collier County, Florida, unless herein provided to the contrary, or unless the context otherwise requires.

ARTICLE 4

POWERS

The powers of the Association shall include and be governed by the following:

- 4.1 General. The Association shall have all of the common-law and statutory powers of a corporation not for profit under the Laws of Florida that are not in conflict with the provisions of these Articles, the Declaration, the By-Laws or the Act.
- 4.2 Enumeration. The Association shall have the powers and duties set forth in the Act, except as limited by these Articles, the By-Laws and the Declaration (to the extent that they are not in conflict with the Act), and all of the powers and duties reasonably necessary to operate the Condominium pursuant to the Declaration and as more particularly described in the By-Laws, as they may be amended from time to time, including, but not limited to, the following:
 - (a) To make and collect Assessments and other charges against members as Unit Owners, and to use the

BECKER & POLIAKOFF, P.A. + 3111 STIRLING ROAD + ROST OFFICE BOX 9007 + FORT LAUDERDALE, FL 33310-9057 TELEPHONE (305) 987-7550

- (b) To buy, own, operate, lease, sell, trade and mortgage both real and personal property.
- (c) To maintain, repair, replace, reconstruct, add to and operate the Condominium Property, and other property acquired or leased by the Association.
- (d) To purchase insurance upon the Condominium Property and insurance for the protection of the Association, its officers, directors and Unit Owners.
- (e) To make and amend reasonable rules and regulations of for the maintenance, conservation and use of the Condominium Property and for the health, comfort, safety and welfare of the Unit Owners.
- (f) To approve or disapprove the leasing, transfer, ownership and possession of Units as may be provided by the Declaration.
- (g) To enforce by legal means the provisions of the Act, the Declaration, these Articles, the By-Laws, and the Rules and Regulations for the use of the Condominium Property, subject, however, to the limitation regarding assessing Units owned by the Developer for fees and expenses relating in any way to claims or potential claims against the Developer as set forth in the Declaration and/or By-Laws.
- (h) To contract for the management and maintenance of the Condominium Property and to authorize a management agent (which may be an affiliate of the Developer) to assist the Association in carrying out its powers and duties by performing such functions as the submission of proposals, collection of Assassments, preparation of records, enforcement of rules and maintenance, repair and replacement of the Common Elements with such funds as shall be made available by the Association for such purposes. The Association and its officers shall, however, retain at all times the powers and duties granted by the Condominium Act, including, but not limited to, the making of Assessments, promulgation of rules and execution of contracts on behalf of the Association.
- (i) To employ personnel to perform the services required for the proper operation of the Condominium.
- 4.3 Condominium Property. All funds and the title to all properties acquired by the Association and their proceeds shall be held for the benefit and use of the members in accordance with the provisions of the Declaration, these Articles and the By-Laws.
- 4.4 <u>Distribution of Income: Dissolution</u>. The Association shall make no distribution of income to its members, directors or officers, and upon dissolution, all assets of the Association shall be transferred only to another not-for-profit corporation or a public agency or as otherwise authorized by the Florida Not For Profit Corporation Statute.
- 4.5 <u>Limitation</u>. The powers of the Association shall be subject to and shall be exercised in accordance with the provisions hereof and of the Declaration, the By-Laws and the Act, provided that in the event of conflict,

the provisions of the Act shall control over those of the Declaration and By-Laws.

ARTICLE 5

10 1 2 3 3 3 4 4 1 1 4 4 1 4 5

MEMBERS

The members of the Association shall 5.1 Membership. The members of the Association shall consist of all of the record title owners of Units in the Condominium from time to time, and after termination of the Condominium, shall also consist of those who were members at the time of such termination, and their successors and assigns. New members shall deliver a true copy of the recorded Deed or other instrument of acquisition of title to the Association.

- The share of a member in the funds and 5.2 Assignment. assets of the Association cannot be assigned, hypothecated or transferred in any manner except as an appurtenance to the Unit for which that share is held.
- On all matters upon which the membership shall be entitled to vote, there shall be only one vote for 5.3 Voting. each Unit, which vote shall be exercised or cast in the manner provided by the Declaration and By-Laws. Any person or entity owning more than one Unit shall be entitled to one vote for each Unit owned.

The By-Laws shall provide for an annual meeting of members, and may make provision for regular and special meetings of members other than the annual meeting.

ARTICLE 6

TERM OF EXISTENCE

The Association shall have perpetual existence.

ARTICLE 7

INCORPORATOR

The name and address of the Incorporator of this Corporation is:

NAME

ADDRESS

Jacob Nagar

4100 Corporate Square Suite 150 Naples, Florida 33942

ARTICLE 8

OFFICERS

The affairs of the Association shall be administered by the officers holding the offices designated in the By-Laws. officers shall be elected by the Board of Directors of the Association at its first meeting following the annual meeting of the members of the Association and shall serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors. The By-Laws may provide for the removal from office of officers, for filling vacancies and for the duties and qualifications of the officers. The names and addresses of the officers who shall serve until their successors are designated by the Board of Directors are as follows:

President:

AUBREY WOOD 8001 Radio Road

Naples, Florida 33942

Vice-President:

RON JEDA

8001 Radio Road

Naples, Florida 33942

Secretary-Treasurer:

JEANNE SANBORN 8001 Radio Road

Naples, Florida 33942

)R 800*

ARTICLE 9

DIRECTORS

- 9.1 Number and Qualification. The property, business and affairs of the Association shall be managed by a board consisting of the number of directors determined in the manner provided by the By-Laws, but which shall consist of not less than three (3) directors. Directors need not be members of the Association.
- 9.2 <u>Duties and Powers</u>. All of the duties and powers of the Association existing under the Act, the Declaration, these Articles and the By-Laws shall be exercised exclusively by the Board of Directors, its agents, contractors or employees, subject only to approval by Unit Owners when such approval is specifically required.
- 9.3 <u>Election; Removal.</u> Directors of the Association shall be elected at the annual meeting of the members in the manner determined by and subject to the qualifications set forth in the By-Laws. Directors may be removed and vacancies on the Board of Directors shall be filled in the manner provided by the By-Laws.
- 9.4 Term of Developer's Directors. The Developer of the Condominium shall appoint the members of the first Board of Directors and their replacements who shall hold office for the periods described in the By-Laws.
- 9.5 <u>Pirst Directors</u>. The names and addresses of the members of the first Board of Directors who shall hold office until their successors are elected and have taken office, as provided in the By-Laws, are as follows:

NAME

ADDRESS

AUBREY WOOD

8001 Radio Road Naples, Florida 33942

RON JEDA

8001 Radio Road Naples, Florida 33942

JEANNE SANBORN

8001 Radio Road Naples, Florida 33942

ARTICLE 10

INDEMNIFICATION

10.1 <u>Indemnity</u>. The Association shall indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or contemplated action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative

Δ

or investigative, by reason of the fact that he is or was a director, employee, officer or agent of the Association, against expenses (including attorneys' faces and appellate attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection with such action, suit or proceeding, unless (a) a court of competent jurisdiction determines, after all available appeals have been exhausted or not pursued by the proposed indemnitee, that he did not act in good faith or in a manner he reasonably believed to be not in, or opposed to, the best interest of the Association, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, that he had reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful, and (b) such court further specifically determines that indemnification or upon plea of nolo contenders or its equivalent shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person did not act in good faith or did act in a manner which he reasonably believed to be not in, or opposed to, the best interest of the Association, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, that he had reasonable cause to believe that his conduct was unlawful.

- 10.2 Expenses. To the extent that a director, officer, employee or agent of the Association has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any action, suit or proceeding referred to in Section 10.1 above, or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, he shall be indemnified against expenses (including attorneys' fees and appellate attorneys' fees) actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection therewith.
- 10.3 Advances. Expenses incurred in defending a civil or criminal action, suit or proceeding shall be paid by the Association in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the affected director, officer, employee or agent to repay such amount unless it shall ultimately be determined that he is entitled to be indemnified by the Association as authorized in this Article 10.
- 10.4 <u>Miscellaneous</u>. The indemnification provided by this Article shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which those seeking indemnification may be entitled under any by-law, agreement, vote of members or otherwise, and shall continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director, officer, employee or agent and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs and personal representatives of such person.
- 10.5 Insurance. The Association shall have the power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the Association, or is or was serving, at the request of the Association, as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against any liability asserted against him and incurred by him in any such capacity, or arising out of his status as such, whether or not the Association would have the power to indemnify him against such liability under the provisions of this Article.
- 10.6 <u>Amendment</u>. Anything to the contrary herein notwithstanding, the provisions of this Article 10 may not be amended without the prior written consent of all persons whose interest would be adversely affected by such amendment.

SHEET WE

六. 如一大山路

BY-LAWS

The first By-Laws of the Association shall be adopted by the Board of Directors and may be altered, amended or rescinded in the manner provided in the By-Laws and the Declaration.

ARTICLE 12

AMENDMENTS

1 6 8 1 8 9 1

Amendments to these Articles shall be proposed and adopted in the following manner:

- 12.1 Notice. Notice of a proposed amendment shall be included in the notice of any meeting at which the proposed amendment is to be considered and shall be otherwise given in the time and manner provided in Chapter 617, Florida Statutes. Such notice shall contain the proposed amendment or a summary of the changes to be affected thereby.
- 12.2 Adoption. Amendments shall be proposed and adopted in the manner provided in Chapter 617, Florida Statutesco and in the Act (the latter to control over the former to the extent provided for in the Act).
- 12.3 Limitation. No amendment shall make any changes in the qualifications for membership, nor in the voting rights or property rights of members, nor any changes in Sections 4.3, 4.4 or 4.5 of Article 4, entitled "Powers", without the approval in writing of all members and the joinder of all record owners of mortgages upon Units. No amendment shall be made that is in conflict with the Act, the Declaration or the By-Laws, nor shall any amendment make any changes which would in any way affect any of the rights, privileges, powers or options herein provided in favor of or reserved to the Developer, or an affiliate, successor or assign of the Developer, unless the Developer shall join in the execution of the amendment. No amendment to this paragraph 12.3 shall be effective.
- 12.4 <u>Developer Amendments</u>. To the extent lawful, the Developer may amend these Articles consistent with the provisions of the Declaration, including Article 8 and Article 12 of the Declaration, allowing certain amendments to be effected by the Developer alone.
- 12.5 <u>Recording</u>. A copy of each amendment shall be filed with the Secretary of State pursuant to the provisions of applicable Florida law, and a copy certified by the Secretary of State shall be recorded in the public records of Collier County, Florida.

ARTICLE 13

INITIAL REGISTERED OFFICE: ADDRESS AND NAME OF REGISTERED AGENT

The initial registered office of this corporation shall be at 3111 Stirling Road, Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33312, with the privilege of having its office and branch offices at other places within or without the State of Florida. The initial registered agent shall be Robert J. Manne, whose address is Becker & Poliakoff, P.A., 3111 Stirling Road, Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33312.

, e

IN WITHESS WHEREOF, the Incorporator has affixed his signature the day and year set forth below.

(SEAL)

STATE OF FLORIDA

SS:

COUNTY OF COLLIER

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this with the day of Manday, 1992 by Jacob Magar, who is personally known to me or who has produced for Manday (type of identification) as identification and who did (did not) take an oath.

Signature of Notary Public

Elizabeth L. Fullor

Frinted Name of Notary Public

NY COMMISSION EMPIRES 1877 28, 1696

PORTED THRU PROGRESSERY & ASSOCIATES

CERTIFICATE DESIGNATING PLACE OF BUSINESS OR DONICILE FOR THE SERVICE OF PROCESS WITHIN THIS STATE, NAMING AGENT UPON WHON PROCESS MAY BE SERVED

In compliance with the laws of Florida, the following is submitted:

First -- That desiring to organize under the laws of the State of Florida with its principal office, as indicated in the foregoing Articles of Incorporation, in the unincorporated portion of the County of Collier, State of Florida, the corporation named in the said Articles has named Robert J. Manne, whose address is Backer & Poliakoff, P.A., 3111 Stirling Road, Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33312, as its statutory registered agent.

Having been named the statutory agent of said corporation at the place designated in this certificate, I hereby accept the same and agree to act in this capacity, and agree to comply with the provisions of Florida law relative to keeping the registered office open.

Robert J. Manhe,

DATED this 16 th day of JAMARY, 1992.

1992 JUN 21 MID:

욹

G)

ထ

PRODUCTION AND VARIABLE OF A COLUMN COUNTY, FLORESS OF STREET, CLERK

ሖ 丟

WHEREAS, Developer recorded that certain Declaration of Condominium of Diamond at Sapphire Lakes in Official Records Book 1687, Page 1491 of the Public Records of Collier County, Florida ("Declaration"); and

WHEREAS, at the time the Declaration was recorded, the contruction of Building 10 was substantially completed, but the construction of Buildings 11, 12 and 13 was not substantially completed; and

WHEREAS, as of the date hereof, the construction of Building 1% is substantially completed; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 718.104(4)(e), Florida Statutes, the Developer is amending the Declaration to include the Survey Certificate for Building 11, which Certificate is attached hereto as Schedule "A" ("Certificate") and incorporated herein by this reference.

NOW THEREFORE, pursuant to Section 718.104(4)(e), and based on the foregoing premises, the Developer hereby amends the Declaration to include the Certificate to Exhibit $^{\rm P2}$ " of the Declaration.

IN WITHESE WHEREOF, Developer has executed this Amendment this the $\frac{22.94}{2}$ day of $\frac{1}{1}$

GHA PARTNERS, J.V., a Plorida joint venture

By: GMA DEVELOPERS, INC., a Florida corporation, Nominee and Hanaging Venturer

Hagar, President

(Corporate Seal)

GMA DEVELOPERS, INC., a Florida corporation, Corporate Title Bolder

> President (Corporate Seal)

8

R

STATE OF FLORIDA

COUNTY OF COLLIER

The foregoing Certificate of Title Amendment was acknowledged before me this 27 ml day of February, 1992, by Jacob Nagar, as President of GMA DEVELOPERS, INC., a Florida corporation, Wominge and Managing Venturer of GMA PARTNERS, J.V., a Florida joint venture.

of Julia Phabuli A Autor Notary Public Signature

Notary Public Printed Name

My commission expires:

But The same of th

HOTARY PURISHEST OF LIGHTS AT LARCE AT COMPUTED FRANKS DET 12 THIS ELITORO INRU INCAESCICAY & AMOUNTES

COUNTY OF COLLIER)

The foregoing Certificate of Title Amendment was acknowledged before me this Joy day of KONVALL, 1982, by Jacob Hagar, as President of GNA DEVELOPERS, INC., a Florida corporation, Corporate Title Holder of GNA PARTNERS, J.V.

Soldier & Suton Rotary Public Signature

Hotary Public Printed Hame

My commission expires:

NOTABLY PUCLIC STATE OF HORIDA AT LARGE MY COMMITSION EXPIRED JULY 28, 1913 ECHOCO THRU HUCKLEDERRY & ASSOCIATES

> I 589 OR BOOK

> > 001791 PAGE

23074AMEND.DEG 2/21/92

1

The second second